

## Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2015

# Impact and Prevention of Psychiatric Polypharmacy in the Elderly

Rose Cordelia E Onyekwe Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Nursing Commons</u>, and the <u>Psychiatric and Mental Health Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

## Walden University

College of Health Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Rose Onyekwe

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

**Review Committee** 

Dr. Eric Anderson, Committee Chairperson, Health Services Faculty Dr. Mary Martin, Committee Member, Health Services Faculty Dr. Faisal Aboul-Enein, University Reviewer, Health Services Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2015

### Abstract

Impact and Prevention of Psychiatric Polypharmacy in the Elderly

by

Rose Onyekwe

MSN/PMHNP, California State University Long Beach. 2011 MSN/Ed, California State University Dominguez Hills. 2009 BSN, University of Phoenix, 2005

> Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Nursing Practice

> > Walden University

August 2015

#### Abstract

Adequate medication management is a focus of effective care that is often overlooked in caring for adults with comorbid psychiatric and physical conditions, especially in patients who are treated by multiple care providers and have a variety of health issues at the same time. The purpose of this project was to develop evidence-based policies and practice guidelines to reduce polypharmacy in elderly patients in a rural outpatient psychiatric clinic. Bandura's self-efficacy theory was used to inform the project for its value in assessing motivation, capacity for selfregulation, and perceptions of individual ability. An interdisciplinary team of stakeholders explored best practices for electronic health records (EHR) in a rural mental health facility, created policy and practice guidelines, and developed implementation and evaluation plans to guide the initiative as it moves forward. The team included physicians, psychiatrists, psychologists, nurse practitioners, nursing support staff, social workers, and substance abuse counselors. The team explored approaches for implementing EHR-based medication management based on research in the current literature and goals/objectives of each department. Team members identified major issues and proposed guideline changes based on evidence in their own fields. The team then collaborated to develop policies and practice guidelines in a series of meetings designed to build consensus for supporting a unified set of products to be accepted by all departments. The resulting policies and practice guidelines are accompanied by plans for implementation and evaluation that provide the institution with a comprehensive solution to polypharmacy in elderly patients. This project may improve overall quality of care by reducing medication and preventing health complications related to polypharmacy.

Impact and Prevention of Psychiatric Polypharmacy in the Elderly by Rose Onyekwe

MSN/PMHNP, California State University Long Beach, 2011

MSN/Ed, California State University Dominguez Hills, 2009

BSN, University of Phoenix, 2005

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Nursing Practice

> Walden University August 2015

Dedication

To my late Grandparents

Mr. and Mrs. J.A. Onyekwe

## Acknowledgments

First, I would like to thank my faculty committee members, Dr. Eric (Stoerm) Anderson, Dr. Mary Martin, and Dr. Faisal Aboul-Enein for their endless guidance, words of encouragement, and support. A huge debt of gratitude goes to my parents, whose influence has helped and strengthened me. Finally, I wish to express my sincere appreciation to my husband, children and siblings for their support and many helpful suggestions for my project.

Section 1: Nature of the Project	. 1
Introduction	. 1
Background	. 1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	3
Goals and Outcomes	4
Frameworks for the Project	. 5
Nature of the Project	6
Significance of the Project	6
Implications for Social Change	9
Definitions of Terms	9
Assumptions and Limitations	. 10
Summary	. 11
Section 2: Review of Literature and Theoretical and Conceptual Framework	12
Introduction	12
Literature Search Strategy	12
Scope of the Problem	14
Risks for Psychiatric Populations: Background and Context	15
Patient Health Worldwide	16
The Application of Quality Improvement Strategies	20
Measuring Polypharmacy Framework	21

## Table of Contents

Section 3: Methodology	
Introduction	
Overall Approach/Rationale	
Assembling the Team	
Description of the Products	
Time and Resource Constraints	
Developing Policy and Practice Guidelines	
Data and Participants	
Implementation Plan Products	
Evaluation Plan Products	
Summary	
Section 4: Findings, Discussion, and Implications	
Introduction	
Discussion of Project Products/Results	
Implications	
Dissemination of the Project	
Strength and Limitations of the Project	
Analysis of Self	
Summary	
Section 5: Scholarly Product	
Abstract	
Program Evaluation Report	
Problem	

Purpose	
Goals and Outcomes	
Significance for Future Practice, Research and Social Change	
Literature and Evidence	
Interdisciplinary Teams	
Discussion and Implications	
Primary Products	
Secondary Products	
Summary	
Dissemination Project	
Problem	
Purpose	
Goals and Outcomes	
Significance of the Project	
Literature and Evidence	
The Team	
Discussion and Implications	
Primary Products	
Secondary Products	
Summary	
References	
Appendix A	66
Appendix B	

Appendix C	
Appendix D	74
Appendix E	75
Appendix F	77
Appendix G	79

#### Section 1: Nature of the Project

#### Introduction

Polypharmacy in populations of adults age 65 or older is a significant issue, especially in populations receiving care in mental health facilities. In this evidence-based project, I assessed the problem of polypharmacy from a variety of perspectives, provided a definition for polypharmacy for this specific population, and proposed a method that can be implemented to create greater accountability in addressing the needs of an aging population through the use of electronic health records (EHRs). When implemented, this project will have the potential of changing the way in which healthcare professionals address the needs of their patients in rural health clinics, including assessing their medication needs and seeking information that can prevent polypharmacy in this vulnerable population through the use of improved technologies.

#### Background

Medical advancements in the 20<sup>th</sup> century and improvements in the quality of life across populations have led to improvements in longevity in the United States. This has led to the aging of the American society, which brings about increasing healthcare needs for older adults (CDC, 2013). The percentage of the population over the age of 65 will increase to more than 20% by 2030, and this population currently consumes more than 66% of the country's outlay for healthcare (CDC, 2013). Estimates suggest that unless there is another major shift by 2050, Americans over the age of 65 will exceed 89 million (CDC, 2013).

These figures demonstrate the breadth of the challenge that emerges when attempting to meet the healthcare needs of the population over the age of 65. Over the course of their lifespans, people develop many different conditions impacting health, and chronic disease is more common

in this population than in any other. Conditions prevalent in this population include heart disease, cancer, diabetes, and mental illness, all of which are frequently treated pharmacologically (CDC, 2013). Therefore, the threat of polypharmacy, or the overprescribing of multiple medications, is especially problematic for this vulnerable population.

Inappropriate drug use in elderly populations occurs in about 14% of communitydwelling patients and rises to 40% among nursing home residents (Trivalle et al., 2010). Subsequently, the problem of polypharmacy is becoming increasingly common in older adults and poses considerable challenges for practitioners, including nurse practitioners working in psychiatric outpatient clinics in rural settings. Developing methods and strategies to improve patient outcomes and to reduce adverse events is becoming a necessary component of care for elderly patients.

#### **Problem Statement**

The problem focused on in this project is the way in which nurses and other professionals address the issue of polypharmacy in elderly patients in rural outpatient psychiatric clinics. Polypharmacy is the use of multiple medications to treat a single illness or a syndrome in one individual patient. It is a common practice among the elderly, both for physical health issues and mental health issues. One of the confounding issues in the rural psychiatric clinic where I practice is that most elderly psychiatric patients have more than one chronic illness; they often have several. Many researchers have shown that these elderly patients are receiving several prescriptions from different physicians that may increase their risk for adverse drug reactions.

Adequate management of patient medication regimens can be a difficult component of care, primarily because many practitioners rely on reports from patients about their medications,

both prescribed and over-the-counter, in order to determine the need for additional medications or if adverse interactions might occur. This results in the problem of polypharmacy, which Viktil et al., (2007) described as "the concurrent use of multiple drugs ... the use of more drugs than are clinically indicated or too many inappropriate drugs" (p. 187). Hoffman et al., (2011) maintained that this can sometimes reflect an imprecise view of the overall problem in relation to psychiatric patients, so they more clearly defined polypharmacy for this population as the use of two or more medications in the same patient to treat the same condition, or the use of two or more of the same chemical class of medications used to treat the same psychiatric ailment.

For geriatric psychiatric patients who often have multiple comorbid psychiatric and physical conditions, polypharmacy can result from the use of multiple psychiatric drugs, multiple prescribers, and/or the use of drugs that result in adverse drug reactions because of the lack of continuity in communications regarding overlapping medication regimens (Hoffman et al., 2011). Slabaugh et al., (2010) also maintained that polypharmacy can complicate the treatment process for elderly patients who have multifactorial health states and require medications for psychiatric conditions. Another problem for elderly populations is that medication regimens may become less effective over time, resulting in the perceived need for additional medications, especially in the treatment of psychiatric conditions (Bilyeu et al., 2011).

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this DNP project was to create a quality improvement program with the aim of reducing polypharmacy in elderly patients in a rural outpatient psychiatric clinic. This quality improvement program focused on three specific areas designed to reduce polypharmacy: 1. Identifying all medications, prescribed and over-the-counter, used by each patient; Increasing patient understanding of the purpose and side effects of each medication; and
Improving communications between practitioners to reduce the opportunities for polypharmacy.

The focus of this project was the incorporation of new policies and systems in a multidisciplinary team approach to improving patient care.

#### **Goals and Outcomes**

The goal of this project was to create a quality improvement program with the aim of reducing polypharmacy in elderly patients in a rural outpatient psychiatric clinic. The goal of developing the project to reduce polypharmacy required the ability to assess current perspectives on changing the present system and the level of commitment that individuals have to improving patient outcomes.

For the purpose of assessing perspectives on the planned change, the definition of polypharmacy reflected the concurrent use of multiple drugs for the treatment of the same clinically indicated illness and the presence of inappropriate drug use, or the use of multiple drugs in a manner that is ineffective, excessive, or can result in adverse events (Viktil et al., 2007). Creating a multidisciplinary approach to reducing polypharmacy required an assessment of current systems, the creation of recommendations from the multidisciplinary team for change, and an assessment of the views of practitioners about their commitment to reducing the problem of polypharmacy.

The most significant measurable outcomes for this project at the time it was proposed were to demonstrate reduction in polypharmacy from current levels to no incidences after implementation of the multidisciplinary team-initiated EHR project. Because no level of polypharmacy would be acceptable and because of the severity of adverse reactions for the elderly population studied, the use of EHRs as a change in protocol was believed to ensure reduction to zero events after implementation. The EHR system identifies when three or more medications are being prescribed for a single patient to treat the same condition, so different providers have the option to go back in and assess their prescribing decisions to prevent polypharmacy. Once the EHR alerts the prescribing professional of the presence of polypharmacy resulting from their prescribing choice, they can then initiate discourse with the other professionals and refrain from their current prescribing plan as a way to prevent polypharmacy. Subsequently, the use of EHRs in combination with the multidisciplinary method was viewed as an approach to use; the technology and the protocols for addressing polypharmacy could reduce the level of polypharmacy in the rural facility to zero.

#### Frameworks for the Project

The quality improvement program was defined by a multidisciplinary model that enhanced communications and improved identification of risk factors for polypharmacy. In correlation with this approach, though, a nursing theory was applied to the focus of educational support services and improved patient participation. Creating a system that supported more effective communication had to start with an effective understanding of treatment modalities and a self-awareness for the patients themselves. This included a focus on self-efficacy theory. Selfefficacy theory can be used to assess a person's motivation, capacity for self-regulation, and perceptions regarding individual ability to meet particular end goals, including effective medication management (Bandura, 1997). Self-efficacy theory was applied to health promotion activities for patients that are based on a patient's choices and behaviors and the adaptations necessary for change.

#### Nature of the Project

This evidence-based project focused on the implementation of an EHR-based approach that ensured the documentation and sharing of information about patient care across multidisciplinary teams and ensured improved information sharing for the treatment of elderly populations in a rural psychiatric outpatient facility. The rationale for this approach was the belief that this type of method could be effective in reducing adverse events that occur as a result of polypharmacy through closer tracking of patient drug use (Viktil et al., 2007). The creation of this program and the strategies for implementation focused on the specific use for elderly patients who are at greater risk of polypharmacy and the perceived benefits of and resistance to this kind of approach in reducing the problem.

#### **Significance of the Project**

Elderly populations seeking treatment in rural psychiatric outpatient clinics may have a long history of psychiatric disorders and demonstrate problems that range from effective adherence to medication regimens to the need for periodic and/or systematic changes in medication that can impact the level of control over the psychiatric disorder (Greenawalt, 2009; Hoffman et al., 2011; Hogan & Kwan, 2006). For example, an elderly patient may have experienced years of well-controlled bipolar disorder and may find that he or she is suddenly experiencing symptoms. This patient may be treated by one or more practitioners, who may prescribe a range of medications to treat the symptoms. Changes in physiological processing of medication and changing levels of response to medication may result in a variety of different views on the best treatment modalities for the patient. In addition, the presence of comorbid health conditions and medications can result in polypharmacy that has a negative impact on the patient's psychiatric and physical condition.

Most practitioners reflect on the patient's history, including prescribing history, as a part of their evaluation of the need for new medications (Hutchinson, 2008). At the same time, a focus on patient self-reports of medication and the present use levels for medication does not always reflect a full and complete assessment of the medication regimen. Subsequently, practitioners need to determine more effective strategies for gaining insight into patient medication use, medication regimens prescribed, and the potential for adverse events each time a patient presents in the rural psychiatric outpatient clinic.

The significance of the project related directly to the increase in the number of elderly patients seeking services, the increasing need for effective medication management, and the noted number of adverse events that occur as a result of medication mismanagement. There were approximately 40 million people living in the United States over the age of 65 in 2010, which comprises about 13% of the population. That number will jump to over 72 million in 2030, increasing to about 20% of the population (Federal Interagency Forum on Aging-Related Statistics, 2012).

There are distinct physiological and psychological changes that occur with age. Elderly adults experience changes that impact how medications are processed, and this can change expected outcomes of medications. Specifically, bioavailability can be impacted by age, and this is reflective of changes that correspond with aging, including weight gain, changes in excess fat deposition, and changes in GI processing, increased levels of stress, and decreased levels of physical activity (Porter & Kaplan, 2012). As people age, their metabolism of medications can slow, and this corresponds both with a general slowing of their metabolism and the impacts of physical condition, all of which require adjustments to drug interventions or therapies that are being used for elderly patients.

Patients aged 65 and older often experience suboptimal pharmacotherapy, primarily because of changes in drug metabolism, target organ sensitivity, problematic drug interactions, and even drug toxicity (Trivalle et al., 2010). Commonly, these changes result in longer periods of drug activity, which can have a greater or lesser drug effect, and an increased level of potential toxicity resulting from metabolic changes (Trivalle et al., 2010). Cefalu (2006) maintained that while this predisposition to adverse reactions occurs in populations over the age of 65, the most problematic outcomes of these reactions occur in patients over the age of 85, who can take an average of five to eight drugs each day. Cefalu stated that a number of reports have shown that the risk of adverse drug events in elderly patients rises with comorbidity; increasing numbers of medications; inappropriate medications; the use of antipsychotics, anticoagulants, diuretics, and antiepileptics; and the use of multiple prescribers and pharmacies by patients and caregivers.

The use of a patient profile and pharmacology questionnaire should occur at each visit, including an identification of any alternative treatments or supplements that could interfere with the function of other drugs. Sharing this information through the use of electronic health records was identified as the program approach best suited to reduce polypharmacy and improve patient outcomes.

#### **Implications for Social Change**

Disease rates have decreased over the last quarter century, at the same time that life expectancy rates of the elderly have increased for both men and women (FIFARS, 2012). Longevity has led to the increasing need for medical services, including services for both psychiatric and physiological health concerns. Many people over the age of have prescriptive and nonprescriptive medications used to treat pain, inflammation, and problematic symptoms related to their conditions. Men and women over 65 are more likely than any other single population to take multiple medications at one time. While some of these medications may be prescribed, it is not uncommon for patients to use a combination of prescribed medication and over-the-counter drugs and supplements that can result in problematic interactions.

Inappropriate drug use in elderly populations occurs in about 14% of communitydwelling patients rising to 40% in nursing home residents (Trivalle et al., 2010). Subsequently, the problem of polypharmacy is becoming increasingly common in older adults and poses considerable challenges for practitioners, including nurse practitioners working in psychiatric outpatient clinics in rural settings. Developing methods and strategies to improve patient outcomes and reduce adverse events is becoming a necessary component of care for elderly patients.

#### **Definitions of Terms**

*Adverse drug events* (or *Adverse medication events*): Adverse drug events, or adverse medication events, occur when a patient's medication is not managed effectively and the patient experiences physiological or psychological responses that are undesirable, including decline in health or mental status resulting from the level, combination or type of medications used.

*Electronic health records*: A technology-based documentation and charting system that provides practitioners and clinicians with access to patient information at a wide range including remote locations to ensure the accuracy of patient health information that informs medical treatment.

*Inappropriate drug use*: Inappropriate drug use is drug use that is either ineffective, excessive, or results in adverse medication events (Trivalle et al., 2010).

*Polypharmacy:* Polypharmacy can be described as "the concurrent use of multiple drugs,[or]...the use of more drugs than are clinically indicated or too many inappropriate drugs" (Viktil et al., 2007, p. 187).

*Quality improvement program*: The quality improvement program used for this DNP project will focus on closer scrutiny and documentation of patient prescribing regimens and medication intake, scrutiny of each patient's regimen, and more effective communication within a multidisciplinary team. This quality improvement program will be supported by evidence-based practices identified in the current literature.

*Rural outpatient psychiatric clinic*: The rural outpatient psychiatric clinic used for the purpose of this study is a facility that provides services for patients with psychiatric disorders that can be managed through medication and support services while residing at home. In this case, the psychiatric outpatient clinic is one located in a rural area and generally provides services for a patient population living within 40 miles of the clinic.

#### **Assumptions and Limitations**

The assumption at the onset of this study was that the problem of polypharmacy existed in the general population and would be found to some degree in participants in a rural psychiatric outpatient facility. This study was also based on the assumption that other mitigating factors, including decreased educational level of rural patients and decreased communication between practitioners using electronic medical records, played a role in the level of polypharmacy in this facility. The study was limited by the focus on a single rural facility and the willingness of practitioners on the multidisciplinary team to support transitions from the protocols currently in place.

#### Summary

In this project, I focused on the level of service being provided to patients in a rural outpatient psychiatric clinic, especially in relation to the use of medication regimens. One of the struggles that practitioners in this kind of setting had was that they often were not fully aware of the level of medication that a patient was taking and may have prescribed more than one medication for the same condition or may have experienced difficulties in assessing the medications a patient is taking. A strategy that was beneficial to support patients in this setting in reducing adverse events, especially in elderly populations, was to support a level of patient education and patient/practitioner communication that was maintained by a multidisciplinary team. In this project, I assessed the level of polypharmacy for elderly patients in this clinical setting and considered the implications of creating improved services, focusing on the use of EHR in determining methods for reducing adverse events.

Section 2: Review of Literature and Theoretical and Conceptual Framework

#### Introduction

This project was designed to assess the impact of a quality improvement program designed to address the problem of polypharmacy in elderly patients in a rural outpatient psychiatric clinic. This problem was identified in a variety of studies about polypharmacy, adverse events, issues in elderly medical care, and in the presence of comorbid conditions in elderly populations. Current studies on the changing nature of the elderly population, increasing issues with medication management, and the need for better methods of communication were all a part of the review of literature provided (Cefalu, 2006; Greenawalt, 2009; Hoffman et al., 2011; Hogan & Kwan, 2006; Hutchinson, 2008; Porter & Kaplan, 2012; Trivalle et al., 2010; Viktil et al., 2007).

The review of literature includes an overview of the literature search strategy and an identification of major models and theories used to support the change initiative. The literature was used to identify the scope of the problem in the specific context of care in the rural outpatient mental health facility. The relevant literature selected demonstrated the scope of the problem and the strategies that were used in the past, including the use of medical records, to support positive outcomes in reducing polypharmacy.

#### **Literature Search Strategy**

An initial Google Scholar search was conducted to determine if any recent online resources could be located in full-text and to determine if other search terms should be used. Some of the search terms considered for this project included *polypharmacy, elderly, adverse events, mental health, electronic medical records*, and *electronic health records*. Other terms, including *hospital* and *nursing*, were included to distinguish medical studies from studies in other fields (e.g., social services) in which assessments of adverse events might occur. The search that produced the most potential sources in Google Scholar was one that used the terms *polypharmacy* and *elderly* and also limited sources to nursing journals. This search produced 711 results that included studies on polypharmacy in the elderly, adverse events in the elderly, and views of strategies used to prevent adverse events. Of the first two pages of results, though, only four sources had any reference to a specific focus on comparisons of different strategies that were used with patients.

A search of the CINHAL, Healthsource, and Medline databases produced a much smaller body of overall literature. One of the key aspects of the search was to limit to full-text sources in order to ensure that the resources could be viewed and used. After completing a search limited by data (2006-2014), full-text status, and peer reviewed sources, a search of the terms *polypharmacy* and *elderly* and also limited sources to nursing journals resulted in 41 full-text studies, only 17 of which pertained to the topic being investigated. The sources selected included those that addressed some of these separate parameters as a foundation for a study on the link between adverse events and polypharmacy, especially in patients with mental illness.

The body of evidence that was produced from a search of terms related to the impact of polypharmacy in elderly patients in the rural mental health setting presented a range of information that included surveyed responses, a focus group, and a retrospective review of patient data. One of the key issues in exploring this topic was that many of the studies that were produced to support hospital redesign measures were carried out in the early 2000s, and much of the current literature focused on the end products of specific design approaches, including

methods of improving patient safety and the use of medical health records. The lack of current literature that indicated the benefits of this kind of change in rural mental health facilities produced the gap in literature that suggested the need for the benefits of the proposed approach.

#### **Scope of the Problem**

The existing literature related the scope of the problem of polypharmacy in elderly populations to the increasing number of elderly in this country. In 2009, approximately 12.9% of the U.S. population was over the age of 65, amounting to approximately 39.6 million people (Administration on Aging, 2014). This number is expected to almost double by 2030, reaching 72.1 million people (American Agency on Aging, 2014).

In addition to comprising a large segment of the population, people over the age of 65 comprise a significant portion of the population using pharmaceuticals. Elderly populations use more than 50% of all prescribed medications and 40% of all over-the-counter medications in this country (Pretorius et al., 2013). More than 90% of all elderly patients not institutionalized are taking at least one form of prescription medication on a regular basis (Pretorius et al., 2013). For those actively participating in regular healthcare-related maintenance, elderly people over the age of 65 are likely to have six to eight medications they are taking at the same time to address a range of comorbid health conditions (Pretorius et al., 2013). As the number of medications being prescribed or used increases in this population, the risk of adverse events also increases. Fulton and Allen (2005) identified the risks of the use of two medications at 15% for elderly populations, while that risk level increases to 58% with five medications and to 82% with seven medications. These researchers further asserted that as the number of medications increases, the

risk for adverse events also increases, and this defined the impetus for relating literature about this problem.

#### **Risks for Psychiatric Populations: Background and Context**

A variety of literature has indicated that polypharmacy is particularly problematic in geriatric patients and in psychiatric populations (Langan & Shajahan, 2010; Tiihonen et al., 2012; Zink, Englisch, & Meyer-Lindberg, 2010). While the current literature reflected the nature of this problem in regards to psychiatric patients in clinical settings, the assumption that these individuals were uninvolved in their medication management was a general misnomer recognized by researchers, including Mizokami et al., (2012) and Munger (2010). Literature has indicated that communications and effective medication management is a cooperative element requiring compliance, support, and regular assessments in order to reduce the chances of problematic medication mismanagement (Tiihonen et al., 2011). Existing literature has maintained the importance of the use of technology and the use of patient support mechanisms to reduce the chances of polypharmacy that results in adverse events (Langan & Shajahan, 2010).

Suokas et al., (2013) conducted a large nationwide study to determine the prevalence and potential predictors of long-term polypharmacy specific to patients receiving treatment for schizophrenia. This project specifically focused on the impacts of antipsychotic polypharmacy in patients and reflected on those who had experienced at least one hospitalization during the study period for schizophrenia (Suokas et al., 2013). The researchers conducted a cohort study defined by the presence of hospitalization for schizophrenia between 2000 and 2007 in order to determine if antipsychotic polypharmacy had occurred. Because of the precarious nature of treatment modalities for patients with schizophrenia, these researchers identified the problem of

polypharmacy simply as patients being prescribed two or more overlapping prescriptions for different antipsychotics in a 60-day period (Suokas et al., 2013). They found that patients with schizophrenia and antipsychotic polypharmacy were at an unacceptable level, with more than 46% of patients experiencing this problem. In addition, the researchers posited that there were implications that this kind of prescribing mismanagement in the case of schizophrenic patients will possibly require hospitalization.

Literature specific to the issue of polypharmacy in elderly patients with psychiatric disorders referred to the connections amongst changing psychiatric medications, the changes in patient needs, and the comorbid conditions that exist for elderly patients, all of which can increase the risk of polypharmacy. This specific project provided a foundation for understanding the overall problem and could subsequently be applied to the scrutiny of the process at a rural outpatient psychiatric clinic.

#### **Patient Health Worldwide**

Research about polypharmacy and its potential impacts has been conducted in the international community for decades. Sato and Akazawa (2013), for example, maintained that it is common in Japan for elderly populations to have multiple comorbidities and to be medicated by multiple practitioners, increasing the chances that individuals will experience adverse drug reactions. These researchers further maintained that the risk of adverse drug reactions increases when patients are taking five or more medications and when they are being treated for both psychiatric and physiological health issues. In Japan, this is especially true of a growing population of elderly patients who are hypertensive and being treated for psychiatric conditions, amongst others (Sato & Akazawa, 2013). One of the notable elements in this Japanese study is

that researchers found there were times when multiple medications were being used to treat the same condition, which both was unnecessary and increased the risk of adverse events.

Other studies in international populations also underscored the problem of polypharmacy in elderly populations and the increased risk of problematic health impacts. For example, Jyrkk et al., (2009) assessed populations of elderly patients in Finland and found that adverse physiological implications could also be assessed as a result of polypharmacy. The researchers found that it was not uncommon for elderly patients receiving multiple medications, some for the same conditions, to experience greater levels of physical instability. Subsequently, elderly patients in their Finnish cohort study demonstrated a higher degree of physiological instability leading to falls and individual injury resulting from polypharmacy (described as the use of six to nine drugs) or excessive polypharmacy (the use of 10 or more drugs; Jyrkk et al., 2009). The researchers found that excessive polypharmacy was a significant underlying cause of increased mortality rates amongst elderly populations and indicated the importance of addressing the issue of multiple prescribing physicians' communications and the need for improved medication management in order to decrease the use of multiple medications for the same conditions (Jyrkk et al., 2009).

In an Egyptian study of elderly populations, researchers found that polypharmacy and the inappropriate use of certain types of medication was more common in elderly patients than in any other population (Hamza et al., 2012). The researchers studied populations of people over the age of 60 and found that polypharmacy occurred in 56% of the subjects studied, and this included the use of prescribed medications from multiple practitioners. Inappropriate use of medications was especially high in this population, with about 41% receiving inappropriate or

poorly managed medications, including contraindicated medication combinations (Hamza et al., 2012). Because the use of antidepressants and antipsychotic medications in elderly populations is on the rise, the significant association between the use of multiple practitioners and polypharmacy was an element identified in the study as increasing the risk of adverse events (Hamza et al., 2012).

In a study of subjects in Sweden, Haider et al., (2009) maintained that a range of factors can impact the effectiveness of medication management and can serve to foster problematic adverse drug events in patients with medical and psychiatric comorbidities. Researchers in this study evaluated the impacts of low levels of educational attainment on the ability of elderly patients to assess and self-manage their medication regimen. These researchers maintained that a lower educational level was associated with a higher degree of polypharmacy and the potential for adverse events occurring from inappropriate drug use (Haider et al., 2009). Lower levels of educational attainment increased the risk of individuals taking three or more psychotropic drugs, and these individuals had a high level of adverse events resulting from polypharmacy, especially when comorbidity between psychiatric and physiological issues emerged (Haider et al., 2009).

In a study of Nigerian patients, prescribing patterns for patients over the age of 65 years suggested a very high level of inappropriate medication use, primarily because of the presence of multiple practitioners and lack of effective medication self-management by patients (Fadare et al., 2013). After evaluating medical records for 220 patients, the researchers found that the patients were prescribed an average of almost four medications per person, including medications for hypertension as well as medications for psychological conditions. Polypharmacy that could result in adverse events (specifically, potentially inappropriate medication prescribing)

occurred in almost 26% of the cases. Similarly, Chirn-Bin et al., (2011) maintained that elderly patients in a Taiwan study experienced inappropriate prescribing with significant frequency, resulting in adverse events occurring as often as 24% of the time. One of the problems that emerged, as noted by Chirn-Bin et al., is that medication regimens are often not assessed until patients experience an adverse event. For elderly patients who may already be experiencing physiological fragility, waiting until an adverse event occurs to address polypharmacy is a risky proposition.

Salih et al., (2013) explored polypharmacy in outpatient clinics in Saudi Arabia and found that of 766 patients, 89% were taking five or more medications prescribed by physicians each day. The most frequently treated conditions included hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and dyslipidemia, but a range of other conditions also existed, including depression, cardiovascular disease, and pain management medications. The presence of polypharmacy and the risk of adverse events are often discussed in contrast to appropriate medication management and the focus for elderly patients on medication compliance (Salih et al., 2013). As a result, the World Health Organization has sought to determine ways of reducing polypharmacy in geriatric patients, recognizing that many elderly experience polypharmacy as they are treated for a range of conditions, including psychiatric diseases, by different practitioners (as cited in Shah, Gajjar, & Desai, 2012). The World Health Organization has identified an imperative to improve the quality of care for geriatric patients and to promote the rational use of medications through increased communication and patient medication management systems.

The general literature provided an understanding of the issue of polypharmacy as a whole and the potential risks involved. The literature showed studies from all over the world that indicated that even in areas where technology is commonly applied, the use of multiple prescribing practitioners and the lack of adequate patient information resulted in poor outcomes for patients. This information also furthered an understanding of the specific issues for elderly patients, many of whom experienced comorbid conditions that resulted in a wide range of medications and potential adverse medication reactions.

#### The Application of Quality Improvement Strategies: Concepts, Models, and Theories

The quality improvement program was defined by a multidisciplinary model that enhanced communications and improved identification of risk factors for polypharmacy. In correlation with this approach, though, a nursing theory was also applied to the focus of educational support services and improved patient participation. Creating a system that supported more effective communication had to start with effective understanding of treatment modalities and self-awareness in the patients themselves. This included a focus on self-efficacy theory. Selfefficacy theory could be used to assess a person's motivation, capacity for self-regulation, and perceptions regarding individual ability to meet particular end goals, including effective medication management (Bandura, 1997). Self-efficacy theory could be applied to health promotion activities for patients who are based on a patient's choices and behaviors and the adaptations necessary for change.

Self-efficacy theory is based on the "beliefs in one's capabilities to organize and execute the courses of action required producing given attainments" (Bandura, 1997, p. 3). In using selfefficacy theory as a foundation for promoting health, it is important to recognize that selfefficacy is behavior-specific and reflects beliefs and perceptions regarding one's own skills and abilities and their application. Self-efficacy generally describes the perceptions and feelings a person has towards goal achievement and his or her own participation in transformative behaviors. Self-efficacy relates to both internal and external cues and individuals and social messages that can impact a person's motivation, self-confidence, and perceptions regarding capacity to reach health promotion goals, including reduction of polypharmacy and the patient's effective self-management of medication regimens.

The connection between self-efficacy theory and any program developed to determine methods to reduce polypharmacy should be education-based and should focus on methods of supporting improved interactions between practitioners in the clinical setting and patients requiring support. The connection between methods for improving outcomes and specific approaches utilized by patients to take part in their care suggested a beneficial line to explore as a part of programming to reduce polypharmacy.

#### **Measuring Polypharmacy: Framework**

There are two strategies for measuring polypharmacy and specifically providing data for the evaluation of measures to reduce polypharmacy through the use of electronic health records (EHRs): the use of a patient questionnaire before and after implementation of the change initiative or the comparison of health record data and comparisons before and after implementation of EHR use. Studies that reflect the use of both of these measures are identifying the issue of polypharmacy in this particular population and creating a body of comparative data. Rambhade et al., (2012), for example, created a questionnaire that was specifically designed to assess polypharmacy by reviewing demographic information, prescribing physicians, date of prescriptions, purpose of the use of the prescription in medical treatment, a complete list of current medical conditions, and any signs and symptoms related to the use of medications. The information in the study by Rambhade et al., (2012) was collected using the questionnaire categories as the survey instrument and semi-structured patient interviews. Before the onset of the interview, patients agreeing to participation were asked to bring a list of all their medications and prescription dates to the interview, as well as any over-the-counter medications they were taking not prescribed by a physician. This type of interview provided a large body of current data and the same type of interviews can be conducted following the implementation of an electronic health record system in order to evaluate the implications for reducing polypharmacy.

Another option for measuring reductions in polypharmacy would be to assess the level of medication use and the specific patient diagnoses in a population in a health facility utilizing traditional recording methods, and comparisons with the electronic medical record data that can be collected after implementation. Freund, Meiman and Kraus (2013) demonstrated the use of medical records to characterize the level of medication use based on demographic characteristics, including age, and the evaluation of polypharmacy in relation to specific patient conditions identified through the use of this electronic data. This approach to evaluating data allowed for the application of a retrospective inquiry into patient medication use, categories of medication prescribed, and prescribing conditions, all of which was derived in correlation with patient demographics and comorbidities. When assessing this kind of data, Freund, Meiman and Kraus (2013) found that patients in older demographic groups had a much higher level of polypharmacy and comorbidity than younger groups, placing them at higher risk of adverse events.

#### Section 3: Methodology

#### Introduction

In this quality improvement project, I used a multidisciplinary team to determine protocols for the use of EHRs with the aim of reducing polypharmacy for geriatric patients seeking treatment in a rural outpatient psychiatric clinic. The purpose of this DNP project was to create a quality improvement program with the aim of reducing polypharmacy in elderly patients in a rural outpatient psychiatric clinic.

#### **Overall Approach/Rationale**

The overall approach to developing a multidisciplinary team approach was to address the problem of polypharmacy based on the need to determine the best route for change and to determine a collaborative set of policies that ensured adequate communication across departments. The following activities were central to the progression of the quality improvement initiative from an initial idea to an applicable set of steps that was implemented:

1. I acted as the leader of a multidisciplinary team created to develop a quality improvement program based on EHR technology to reduce polypharmacy. The team included a range of different institutional stakeholders, with individuals responsible for prescribing medication for this population. As a result, I was responsible for selecting and integrating members of a multidisciplinary team in the development of policies and protocols to reduce polypharmacy.

2. I led the multidisciplinary team in exploring studies on the use of EHRs in reducing medication polypharmacy and adverse events caused by medication errors (Croll, 2010; Jha et al., 2010).

3. I led the project term to develop policy and practice guidelines.

4. I validated the content of policies and practice guidelines by sharing the information with scholars in the field. This provided a foundation for assessing the mechanisms for change in alignment with their views of evidence-based approaches.

5. I led the project team to develop an implementation plan and an evaluation plan (See Appendix C and D).

6. This approach provided a cost-effective system for creating a change initiative because it focused on my work in leading a team and creating the plan.

#### Assembling the Team

I approached departmental leaders at a rural psychiatric facility and outlined the project parameters. The departmental leaders were then asked to provide recommendations within their departments for participants in the project team. After collecting a document of potential candidates for participation in the team, members of each of the multidisciplinary stakeholder groups were approached and asked to participate. This process continued until at least one member of each stakeholder group was identified for participation in the team.

The multidisciplinary team was comprised of physicians, psychiatrists, psychologists, licensed clinical social workers, substance abuse counselors, nurse practitioners, and nursing support staff who provided direct services to geriatric psychiatric patients in a rural outpatient clinic. The team included one representative from each discipline among those who were present and discussed any suggestions, challenges, and concerns with the group about the implementation of a quality improvement strategy. This team also distinguished roles for the implementation of the quality improvement program and determined lines of communication to support improvements in medication management across disciplines. The team met once a week for 6 weeks.

During the first weekly meeting, the team was asked to come together and identify themselves and discuss any specific skills they have that they bring to the table for resolving the major problem of polypharmacy for geriatric populations. This was done as a part of the strategy of opening dialogues and sharing information that could improve departmental communications. The team then assessed the existing policies and practice guidelines of the organization in order to identify any deficiencies in relation to medication management and documentation systems. The team members identified issues and provided a rationale for any changes that were proposed and subsequently implemented. This meeting set the stage for group decision-making at the next meetings. This meeting also determined the roles of participants and set goals to be completed before the next meeting. These goals included seeking evidence-based practice research in support of any proposed changes.

At the second and third weekly meeting, the team members discussed research, pursued additional research, and identified the specific policy changes proposed as extensions of the development process. The group discussed how effective the change initiative was in meeting the goals set by the group in regards to reductions in polypharmacy and improved medication management. I presented information derived from research and assembled a report for the group on the goals met by the proposed change.

At the fourth meeting of the team, the group provided a structure for the policy changes and discussed how the changes would be applied in specific policy outcomes. The team also
related methods for integrating policy changes, including educational and informational sessions to be used with staff, and the implications of not implementing the changes as identified in the new policy guidelines (See Appendix A).

The final meeting provided a wrap-up of the process, which included a review of the policy, a review of the literature pertaining to the change, and a review of instructional/ informational content that was shared across departments. This end meeting was the culmination of the first five team sessions and concluded with the production of a clear guideline and presentation process for integrating the change initiative in the organization (See Appendix B).

### **Description of the Products**

The primary products that were created through the project and team involvement in the DNP project included a new set of policies related to the use of electronic medical records to be used as the foundation for integrating EHRs into different aspects of patient care (See Appendices A and B). The primary products of the DNP project included the creation of specific policies and practice guidelines used in the clinical setting (Appendices A and B). The members of the multidisciplinary team were responsible for the creation of the primary products, and I provided a narrative review of these products. Validation procedures were based on an evaluation of outcomes and patient data both before and after implementation. The comparative data was evaluated on a departmental level in order to assess areas of change and areas in which the change initiatives were most effective (Croll, 2010; Jha et al., 2010). This corresponded with existing literature about the benefits of electronic record keeping in relation to patient process and also related to the findings of each department about the overall level of adverse events as reflections of the success or failure of policy changes.

The secondary products include an implementation plan (Appendix C) used to assess the levels of polypharmacy and the nature of adverse events prior to the integration at each level of the organization and an evaluation plan (Appendix D) used to determine variations in the outcomes for patients before and after implementation of the policies and practice guidelines. Project team members worked collaboratively to create the policy and practice guideline changes and to assess levels of need for each department prior to implementation. Implementation practices were discussed through collaboration on departmental levels. Each team member demonstrated a commitment to foster in others the same commitment to apply the initiative in the workplace. The validation procedures for the secondary products were based on an evaluation of existing literature and best practice approaches, including literature related to the use of technology and methods for developing policies across departments.

# **Time and Resource Constraints**

This project required participation of members in the multidisciplinary team during a 6week period in the fall and winter of 2015. This constraint was related both to the parameters of the team process and the need to complete the project in a limited span of time. Because project team participants were asked to be part of the team process on a volunteer basis, there was not a significant budget allocated to the use of staffing resources in the hospital setting. Subsequently, the project budget was limited to expenses I incurred.

## **Developing Policy and Practice Guidelines**

The general policy change was integrated through the multidisciplinary team, which applied the change initiative that was designed to improve the quality of care by reducing polypharmacy. The policy specifically addressed the roles of different players at each tier of the organization and has promoted the use of improved documentation systems through EHRs and a structured approach to care that ensured that patient prescribing information could be communicated to each practitioner who provided the patient with care (Croll, 2010; De Wet, 2011; Harrington, 2011; Jha et al., 2010). The policies developed were assessed in relation to the evidence-based practices identified in the existing literature to determine the set of practices that would be used at the clinic.

The leadership approach that I took in leading the team to successful policy development and implementation focused on a transformational leadership approach, which can be described as a style that raises leadership to the next level. Transformational leadership involves inspiring followers to commit to a shared vision and goals...challenging them to be innovative problem solvers, and developing [their] capacity via coaching, mentoring, and provision of both challenge and support (Bass & Riggio, 2006, p. 4).

Transformational leadership can also be described as "the process whereby a person engages with others and creates a connection that raises the level of motivation and morality in both the leader and the follower" (Northouse, 2012, p. 186). Because of the significance of this issue and the need for a more effective approach to improving patient care, this leadership style was used to help foster a sense of commitment to the change initiative during the study process.

### **Data and Participants**

The setting for this study was a rural outpatient psychiatric clinic. This setting was selected in order to evaluate the factors that impact the services provided for patients in this kind of setting and the potential implications for services orientation using a multidisciplinary team approach. This type of clinic was also selected because of limitations in its communication

modalities and its approaches to medication management in order to support the potential of a quality improvement program to improve services.

The specific clinic provided support for people with a range of psychiatric disorders, including geriatric patients with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, substance use disorders, and depression. In addition, this clinic frequently works with patients who have recently been released after short-stay hospital visits for psychiatric or physiological health conditions; referrals to the clinic were provided to improve patient outcomes after hospitalization.

## **Implementation Plan Products**

I acted as the leader of the multidisciplinary team that developed a plan to be implemented in each department that provided directives for methods of communication and the use of EHRs in the rural facility. The multidisciplinary team determined which practitioners were responsible and had access to EHRs. The team also determined which practitioners providing support services would do follow-ups, which professionals provided educational support for patients, and which providers were in charge of communicating with other practitioners the information necessary to ensure appropriate medication management.

The policy plan and informational presentation were distributed to a number of specialists in the area of polypharmacy and policy development, an expert from School of Pharmacy, Yorba Linda University, and my preceptor, who is also an expert in the area of polypharmacy, working with geriatric patients, and who is an adjunct professor at USC and UCLA. These individuals were selected because of their work and their specific focus on the issue of polypharmacy in mental illness and methods to prevent polypharmacy in the elderly.

## **Evaluation Plan Products**

I was responsible for assessing the outcomes of the project and my team determined what data were used and how they influenced assessments of the change initiative over time. The team also determined if information collected would be compared to national data collected from the current literature about the level of polypharmacy in this country, the level of polypharmacy in psychiatric patient populations, and the number of overall adverse events that occur as a measure of the success or failure of the change initiative.

# Summary

The objectives and outcomes of this program were based on a DNP candidate-led multidisciplinary team that was formed to address the issue of polypharmacy in a rural mental health facility. The team members focused on methods to improve patient outcomes based on the use of electronic health records to be used to reduce polypharmacy in rural outpatient psychiatric clinics. This was based on the practice changes determined by the team during weekly meetings over a 6-week period.

This plan for use of a DNP candidate-led team in creating a change initiative was recognized as a method of contributing to evidence-based practice by providing documentation of support for developing quality improvement methods that reduced polypharmacy. This project focused on a multidisciplinary approach to supporting improvements in the use of EHRs, attention to patient evaluation, and improved understanding of medication compliance. The application of the project in this area was viewed as a way of helping to defend the need for differentiated services in the outpatient psychiatric clinic linked to the quality improvement measure. This program was in response to an identified need in the clinical setting, in this case the need to reduce polypharmacy for elderly patients, and the perceived benefits of the use of improved technologies.

### Section 4: Findings, Discussion, and Implications

### Introduction

For geriatric patients who frequently experience multiple comorbid physical and psychiatric conditions, the issue of polypharmacy is especially problematic. The use of multiple drugs prescribed by multiple prescribers, sometimes for the same condition, can result in adverse drug reactions (Hoffman et al., 2011). Polypharmacy can cause significant adverse events and can hinder effective treatment for elderly patients who have multifactorial health states. In the rural psychiatric facility, the focus of this project is the implementation of a strategic approach to reducing polypharmacy by improving communication and documentation methods of a range of providers (Slabaugh et al., 2010). The purpose of this DNP project was to create a quality improvement program with the aim of reducing polypharmacy in elderly patients in a rural outpatient psychiatric clinic. The expected outcomes of this study were to identify medications for each patient, increase patient knowledge, improve communications between practitioners, and reduce polypharmacy through the use of EHRs. Reducing polypharmacy requires a commitment on the part of practitioners to support improved patient outcomes through the implementation of a quality improvement change initiative.

The primary products that were developed as a part of this process included a set of policy and practice guidelines (Appendices A and B). The secondary products developed included an implementation plan (Appendix C) and an evaluation plan (Appendix D). The implementation plan was developed with the goal of assessing the levels of polypharmacy and adverse events before a change initiative. The evaluation plan was developed to determine variations in the outcomes through the process of implementation of policies and practice guidelines. The policy and practice guidelines were created with input from a multidisciplinary team to clearly identify expectations and changes. The overall results of the project included the creation of a multidisciplinary team, the development of a set of policies and protocols for the use of EHRs in the clinical setting, and the successful implementation and evaluation of the change initiative.

# **Discussion of Project Products**

The project process required specific steps, the first of which was the creation of a multidisciplinary team. This team was responsible for the development of the project products, including the implementation and evaluation plans as well as the policy and practice guidelines that will dictate how the change initiative is maintained in the clinical setting over time. These products provide the framework and support for the change initiative and demonstrate the connection between what were the practices in the facility at the time and the gaps in information that had to be addressed to reduce polypharmacy. The implementation plan was created with the aim of evaluating the levels of polypharmacy and the impacts of adverse events in order to define the scope of the problem.

The implementation plan identified the specific areas of the organization and the level of involvement without actually being derived from an implementation process. These areas included the organizational level and departmental level. One of the most compelling statements made by participants in the multidisciplinary team was that there needed to be protocols and systems that were maintained at the organizational level and implemented at the departmental level, and this was demonstrated in the differentiation between the two in the implementation plan outline in Appendix C.

The implementation plan included organizational evaluations of the key access points for EHRs in order to determine how effective a change initiative using EHRs could be, the existing organizational directives for the prescribing systems already in place, and the overall problem of polypharmacy for the organization as a whole. In conjunction with these points, the implementation plan also related the need for the integration of technology-based reporting systems and the underlying connection between these systems and funding mechanisms for the mental health facility. The reflections for the organization as a whole are provided in Appendix E.

From a departmental standpoint, the implementation plan took on a much more concrete focus and identified the level of responsibility as well as the departmental expectations for the use of EHRs, and it specifically noted the occupations in which participation in the change initiative would be mandated. This included identifying every person in each department who would have access to EHRs and all of the people involved in prescribing at each level of the organization. In order to create an impetus for acceptance of the change initiative, the focus on levels of polypharmacy for each was a necessary component of the implementation plan. Finally, the implementation plan at the departmental level also included the identification of methods through which technology could be expanded and individuals trained to ensure adequate use.

An example of potential results from the departmental assessment is included in Appendix F. This specifically focused on the key components of the implementation plan and potential outcomes for the Geriatric Psychology department of the mental health facility, because of the prevalence of this problem for the specific population being assessed and the role of the department in addressing their service needs. The information provided in this implementation plan addressed the specific needs of the department in terms of overall prescribers, access point needs, and the problems that relate specifically to how polypharmacy is assessed, including in-take information and its impacts.

The evaluation plan provided in Appendix D outlined the variations in the outcomes through the process of implementing policies and practice guidelines. The organizational rubric set out the parameters for assessing planning, initiation, strategic implementation, policy assessment, and successful outcomes in relation to the different aspects of the problem: communication, polypharmacy, and adverse events. One of the notable elements regarding communications in the interdisciplinary team was that adverse events were not reported as concretely as they should have been. One nurse practitioner maintained that not all adverse events that were likely impacted by polypharmacy were described that way in the evaluation or treatment process, and so were not always indicated in data collected about the level of impact on a department.

The project focused on the planning and development process, and so outcomes of the implementation and evaluation were not a part of this project. Members of the multidisciplinary team reflected on how they perceived the implementation and evaluation plan processes to evolve, and this information is provided in Appendices E, F, and G.

The policy guidelines outlined in Appendix A were the foundation for the change initiative and were clearly identified by the multidisciplinary team as the foundation for the changes that occurred. These represent the end product, and modifications were not made to these policies after they were finalized. The policies included the use of EHRs for patient documentation, the use of EHRs across departments, the use of technology to support accuracy in record keeping, the identification of privacy approaches that are in alignment with HIPAA to diminish breaches of privacy from multiple access points, and the use of educational systems in the mental health facility to improve overall integration of technology. Multidisciplinary team members worked collaboratively to create the policy and practice guideline changes and to assess levels of need for each department prior to implementation. Implementation practices occurred through collaboration on departmental levels. Each team member demonstrated a commitment to the process of change and fostered commitment in others to apply the change initiative to the workplace process.

The outcomes of this project reflected the views of team members about the connection between communication modalities and the approaches to maintaining accurate records for geriatric patients, specifically with the aim of reducing polypharmacy. For geriatric patients who have multiple comorbid conditions, polypharmacy is becoming increasingly common when communication between practitioners is inadequate (Hoffman et al., 2011). Members of the multidisciplinary team maintained that even though their facility was relatively small, communications did not occur on a regular basis to support the accuracy of patient care plans in reflecting the prescribing practices for each patient. This corresponds with the findings of researchers including Slabaugh et al., (2010), who argued that polypharmacy for elderly patients is exacerbated by the fact that there are multiple states of health that may be treated by a range of practitioners, resulting in medication regimens that overlap. For example, Bilyeau et al., (2011) maintained that conditions like depression may be treated by multiple practitioners, including a psychiatrist and a general practitioner, seeing the same symptoms in a patient. One of the challenging aspects of creating the plan and identifying approaches to change within the multidisciplinary team was settling on a definition of the problem of polypharmacy. The team settled on creating a definition and reflecting the need for intervention based on the belief that polypharmacy can be seen as the concurrent use of multiple drugs for the treatment of the same clinically indicated illness as well as the presence of inappropriate drug use or the use of multiple drugs in a manner that is ineffective, excessive, or can result in adverse events (Viktil et al., 2007).

The most significant measurable outcomes sought in this project were the demonstration of a reduction in polypharmacy from current levels to no incidences after implementation of the multidisciplinary team-initiated EHR project. Though this was clearly an aim of the process, the details identified in Appendices E, F, and G reflected projected views of what could occur when implemented. This was based on the assertion that no level of polypharmacy would be acceptable in the clinical setting and that EHRs should trigger a report when multiple prescribers enter data about patient process into the system. One of the key tracking elements of this operation involves the constant use of updated material and ready access to the EHR system. Members of the multidisciplinary team questioned the methods for implementation that could occur through the application of the project and the impact for project outcomes. Participation and compliance with EHR use is imperative in any facility where the project is implemented because of the mechanisms involved in ensuring that polypharmacy does not occur. The EHR system identifies when three or more medications are being prescribed for an individual patient for a single condition or when overlapping prescriptions have been produced by multiple providers. When the EHR notifies the prescribing professional of the presence of polypharmacy

during the chart update process, the practitioner has a number of opportunities to contact the other professional or assess the orders that exist for the patient in order to make necessary corrections to avoid polypharmacy. Even in light of these protocol changes and the policy development, members of the multidisciplinary team maintained that errors may still occur even after implementation of the EHR system.

In the evaluation of outcomes related to the DNP project, I took on a number of roles, including the leader of the multidisciplinary team and the liaison between each department and the team itself. The team focused on the creation of the policy plan and also provided narrative information about any problem, its potential solutions, and major areas of concern in relation to the use of EHR systems and the training protocols needed for successful implementation. I was also responsible for assessing the outcomes of the project and for integrating narrative data and specific resources to determine if practitioners believed polypharmacy might continue once the plan is implemented.

## Implications

# Policy

The change initiative developed in this DNP project has a number of implications for policy, practice, research, and social change. The general policy change was integrated through the multidisciplinary team to apply the change initiative designed to improve the quality of care for the geriatric patients being served in the mental health facility. As a result, the policy change was in alignment with the goal and it reflected an evidence-based approach (Croll, 2010; De Wet, 2011; Harrington, 2011; Jha et al., 2010). Subsequently, the DNP project resulted in policy changes that were implemented departmentally and across the organization.

# Practice

The policy changes also determined specific practice changes, including changes in the way communications occur across departments and in the approaches used to document patient process. The use of EHRs was the defining element in this practice change, and it led to significant alterations in communication systems and approaches to care. Increasingly, the team approach for creating the policies reflected a greater need for such team approaches in providing patient care. Because of the significance of this issue and the need for a more effective approach to improving patient care, this focus of this process resulted in improved function in the facility as a whole.

# Research

In this research, I identified provided a foundation for policy changes and demonstrated the application of best-practice approaches related to research evidence. Current studies on the changing nature of the elderly population, increasing issues with medication management, and the need for better methods of communication are all a part of the review of literature provided (Cefalu, 2006; Greenawalt, 2009; Hoffman et al., 2011; Hogan & Kwan, 2006; Hutchinson, 2008; Porter & Kaplan, 2012; Trivalle et al., 2010; Viktil et al., 2007). Research has indicated that polypharmacy was a significant problem that had to be addressed through the policy changes (Langan & Shajahan, 2010; Tiihonen et al., 2012; Zink et al., 2010). Existing research has supported the value of the use of technology and the use of patient support mechanisms to reduce the chances of polypharmacy that result in adverse events (Langan & Shajahan, 2010). These elements were clearly identified in the change initiative for the facility.

# **Social Change**

The change initiative and policy decision-making also reflected the importance of improving outcomes as a social change strategy. The overall problem of polypharmacy has a significant impact on populations as a whole, and this project sets the tone for increasing use of technology in rural settings to improve patient outcomes (Trivalle et al., 2010). Correspondingly, the importance of creating mechanisms through which communications can advance to improve patient outcomes was also clearly demonstrated in this project. Both of these elements support social change because they improve outcomes for patients while addressing the need for improvements in a variety of different settings.

## **Dissemination of the Project**

The implications for both research and social change require the dissemination of this project to other professionals who can benefit from the information presented. As a result, this DNP project will be presented in informal nursing settings in mental health facilities and at a conference on mental health nursing.

# Strength and Limitations of the Project

This study provided an accurate reflection of the range of different ways in which EHRs can be used to ensure medication use is in alignment with patient needs, and the use of data from a facility and a multidisciplinary team are both strengths of this project. One of the weaknesses is that this project did limit the focus to the application in a single rural facility and so the outcomes cannot fully be understood if applied in other settings.

### Analysis of Self

As a DNP candidate, I recognized the importance of accurate and adequate communication in the care of patients and also sought methods to ensure that this could occur in

rural settings where practitioners may be spread out over different facilities. My focus was to ensure that communication could occur and that medication management was as accurate as possible through the use of new technologies. I sought this information and used a multidisciplinary team approach to developing protocols for its use in the rural mental health facility. The policy development process required a leader for the multidisciplinary team and I became this leader, employing a variety of leadership techniques and fostering beneficial communication in the group through a transformational leadership model. Transformational leadership involves inspiring followers to commit to a shared vision and goals, "...challenging them to be innovative problem solvers, and developing [their] capacity via coaching, mentoring, and provision of both challenge and support" (Bass & Riggio, 2006, p. 4). This was my focus during the process, and I used a range of strategies during the team process to realize applicable change. I gained a significant amount of insight into the development of policy through the discourse about policy process and also recognized the variety of stakeholders who can be involved and the different stakeholder interests that are reflected when discussions about policy process occur.

As a practitioner, scholar and project manager, I found that the two elements are intertwined when exploring major policy changes in the clinical setting. The stakeholders involved in the process of change frequently require a broad range of information supporting a change initiative, and solid leadership requires a rationale for change in order to challenge resistance. The use of the team approach had significant benefits in addressing stakeholder concerns and in creating an effective method for communicating both the need for change and the approaches to best address change in each department. The long-term goals for myself as a practitioner, scholar, and project manager include some of the same elements: to maintain a consistent message, to demonstrate understanding of a range of perspectives, to strive for greater knowledge, and to enact effective change. Recognizing that nursing is a dynamic profession requiring continuous change and constant awareness of stakeholder interests should be a foundational element in driving nursing research. After this DNP project was completed, I recognized my need to constantly assess the best approaches in nursing care and to determine strategic approaches through the application of effective research.

#### Summary

Research clearly indicates that polypharmacy is particularly problematic in geriatric patients and in psychiatric populations as a whole (Langan & Shajahan, 2010; Tiihonen et al., 2012; Zink, Englisch, & Meyer-Lindberg, 2010). There is increasing evidence that effective communication and effective medication management go hand-in-hand, and this project provided additional support for this assertion. Communication and management systems that are technology-based, including the use of electronic health records (EHRs) provide a foundation for communications between varied practitioners in the rural mental health facility and can help to reduce the level of polypharmacy.

The aim of this DNP project was to create a quality improvement program for reducing polypharmacy in elderly patients in a rural outpatient psychiatric clinic. The multidisciplinary team created and supported a policy change and new technologies. This information suggests the need for continued study of the impacts of EHRs in the clinical setting and continued research into the best approaches to reducing adverse events from poor medication management.

### Section 5: Scholarly Product

## Abstract

Adequate medication management should be a focus of effective care for patients, but can often be overlooked in caring for adults with comorbid psychiatric and physical conditions. This is especially true when patients see multiple care providers and when they have a variety of health issues that are being treated at the same time. The purpose of this DNP project was to create a quality improvement program with the aim of reducing polypharmacy in elderly patients in a rural outpatient psychiatric clinic. The theoretical foundations are based on Bandura's (1997) self-efficacy theory used to assess a person's motivation, capacity for self-regulation, and perceptions regarding individual ability to meet particular end goals. The goals of this project included creating a multidisciplinary team to explore the best approaches to implementing electronic health records (EHR) in a rural mental health facility, and creating a policy change and educational program to implement the new plan developed by the multidisciplinary team. The multidisciplinary team successfully developed a protocol and educational plan for nursing staff to apply to the use of EHRs to prevent polypharmacy in the rural psychiatric outpatient setting. This project led to the creation of protocols for the introduction of an electronic health record (EHR)-based approach to patient medication management supported by professionals from a range of fields. This project utilized a multidisciplinary team to explore the best approaches for implementing an EHR-based approach. The major products for this project included the multidisciplinary team, the plan for integrating medical records and assessments through EHRs, and the specific practice guidelines. The problem of polypharmacy is becoming increasingly common in older adults, and poses a threat to individuals in rural settings. Developing methods

and strategies to improve patient outcomes and reduce adverse events is becoming a necessary component of care for elderly patients.

# **Program Evaluation Report**

The preliminary outcomes of the evaluation plan after an initial period of implementation reflected interesting perspectives on the impacts of each stage of the process. These preliminary results were reflected in documentation provided in Appendix G. The results included here integrated both the views of the strategic process and the steps through which changes were made in relation to improving communication and reducing both polypharmacy and adverse events. This included relating whether successful outcomes were achieved. Though the aim was to reduce polypharmacy so that zero adverse events would occur, this goal was not achieved as a part of the change initiative. Continued participation in the policies and approaches outlined would determine the continued movement towards this aim over time.

## Problem

Adequate management of patient medication regimens can be a difficult component of care, primarily because many practitioners rely on reports of patients about their medications, both prescribed and over-the-counter, in order to determine the need for additional medications or if adverse interactions might occur. This results in the problem of polypharmacy, which Viktil et al., (2007) described as "the concurrent use of multiple drugs, [or]...the use of more drugs than are clinically indicated or too many inappropriate drugs" (p. 187). Hoffman et al., (2011) maintained that this can sometimes reflect an imprecise view of the overall problem in relation to psychiatric patients, and they more clearly defined polypharmacy for this population as the use

of two or more medications in the same patient to treat the same condition, or the use of two or more of the same chemical class of medications used to treat the same psychiatric ailment.

For geriatric psychiatric patients, who often have multiple comorbid psychiatric and physical conditions, polypharmacy can result from the use of multiple psychiatric drugs, multiple prescribers, and/or the use of drugs that result in adverse drug reactions because of the lack of continuity in communications regarding overlapping medication regimens (Hoffman et al., (2011). Slabaugh et al., (2010) maintained that polypharmacy can complicate the treatment process for elderly patients who have multifactorial health states and require medications for psychiatric conditions. In addition, one of the problems for elderly populations is that medication regimens may become less effective over time, resulting in the perceived need for additional medications, especially in the treatment of psychiatric conditions (Bilyeu et al., 2011).

#### Purpose

The purpose of this DNP project was to develop a quality improvement program with the aim of reducing polypharmacy in elderly patients in a rural outpatient psychiatric clinic. This quality improvement program focused on three specific areas designed to reduce polypharmacy: 1-identifying all medications, prescribed and over-the-counter, utilized by each patient; 2-increasing patient understanding of the purpose and side effects of each medication; and 3-improving communications among practitioners to reduce the opportunities for polypharmacy. The focus of this program was the incorporation of new policies and systems in a multidisciplinary team approach to improving patient care.

#### **Goals and Outcomes**

The most significant goal of this project was to introduce a new approach to systematically addressing the issue of polypharmacy with the aim of reducing the problem in elderly populations receiving treatment in a rural psychiatric outpatient clinic. The goal of creating the project to reduce polypharmacy required the ability to assess current perspectives on changing the present system and the level of commitment that individuals have to improving patient outcomes through the implementation of the project.

The overall approach to developing a multidisciplinary team method was to address the problem of polypharmacy based on the need for effective collaborative policies, leading to the creation of a multidisciplinary team to develop a quality improvement program based on EHR technology to reduce polypharmacy. The team included a range of different institutional stakeholders and individuals responsible for prescribing medication for this population.

# Significance for Future Practice, Research, and Social Change

Elderly populations seeking treatment in rural psychiatric outpatient clinics may have a long history of psychiatric disorders and demonstrate problems that range from effective adherence to medication regimens to the need for periodic and/or systematic changes in medication that can impact the level of control over the psychiatric disorder (Greenawalt, 2009; Hoffman et al., 2011; Hogan & Kwan, 2006). For example, an elderly patient may have experienced years of well-controlled bipolar disorder and may find that he or she is suddenly experiencing symptoms. This patient may be treated by one or more practitioners, who may prescribe a range of medications to treat the symptoms. Changes in physiological processing of medication and changes in the levels of response to a medication may result in a variety of different views on the best treatment modalities for the patient. In addition, the presence of comorbid health conditions and medications can result in polypharmacy that has a negative impact on the patient's psychiatric and physical condition.

Most practitioners reflect on the patient's history, including prescribing history, as a part of their evaluation of the need for new medications (Hutchinson, 2008). At the same time, a focus on patient self-reports of medication and the present use levels for medication does not always reflect a full and complete assessment of the medication regimen. Subsequently, practitioners need to determine more effective strategies for gaining insight into patient medication use, medication regimens prescribed, and the potential for adverse events each time a patient presents in the rural psychiatric outpatient clinic.

The significance of the project related directly to the increase in the number of elderly patients seeking services, the increasing need for effective medication management, and the noted number of adverse events that were occurring as a result of medication mismanagement. The increase in our aging population is ongoing: There were approximately 40 million people living in the United States over the age of 65 in 2010, which comprised about 13% of the population (FIFARS, 2012); that number will jump to over 72 million in 2030 to comprise about 20% of the population (FIFARS, 2012).

### Literature and Evidence

There are distinct physiological and psychological changes that occur with age. Elderly adults experience changes that impact how medications are processed, and this can change expected outcomes of medications. Specifically, bioavailability can be impacted by age, and this is reflective of changes that correspond with aging, including weight gain, changes in excess fat deposition, and changes in GI processing, increased levels of stress, and decreased levels of physical activity (Porter & Kaplan, 2012). As people age, their metabolism of medications can slow, which corresponds both with a general slowing of metabolism and the impacts of physical condition, all of which require adjustments to drug interventions or therapies that are being used for elderly patients.

Patients aged 65 and older often experience suboptimal pharmacotherapy, primarily because of changes in drug metabolism, target organ sensitivity, problematic drug interactions, and even drug toxicity (Trivalle et al., 2010). Commonly, these changes result in longer periods of drug activity, which can have a greater or lesser drug effect and an increased level of potential toxicity resulting from metabolic changes (Trivalle et al., 2010).

While the current literature reflected the nature of this problem in regards to psychiatric patients in clinical settings, the assumption that these individuals were uninvolved in their medication management was a general misperception that was recognized by researchers, including Mizokami et al., (2012) and Munger (2010). Literature has indicated that communications and effective medication management is a cooperative element requiring compliance, support, and regular assessments in order to reduce the chances of problematic medication mismanagement (Tiihonen et al., 2011). Existing literature has maintained the importance of the use of technology and the use of patient support mechanisms to reduce the chances of polypharmacy that results in adverse events (Langan & Shajahan, 2010).

Suokas et al., (2013) conducted a large nationwide study to determine the prevalence and potential predictors of long-term polypharmacy specific to patients receiving treatment for schizophrenia. This project specifically focused on the impacts of antipsychotic polypharmacy in patients and reflected on those who had experienced at least one hospitalization for schizophrenia during the study period (Suokas et al., 2013). The researchers conducted a cohort study defined by the presence of hospitalization for schizophrenia between 2000 and 2007 in order to determine if antipsychotic polypharmacy had occurred. Because of the precarious nature of treatment modalities for patients with schizophrenia, these researchers identified the problem of polypharmacy simply as patients being prescribed two or more overlapping prescriptions for different antipsychotics in a 60-day period (Suokas et al., 2013). They found that patients with schizophrenia and antipsychotic polypharmacy were at an unacceptable level, with more than 46% of patients experiencing this problem. In addition, the researchers posited that there were implications that this kind of prescribing mismanagement of patients with schizophrenia can lead to the need for hospitalization.

Cefalu (2006) maintained that while this predisposition to adverse reactions occurs in populations over the age of 65, the most problematic outcomes of these reactions occur in patients over the age of 85, who can take an average of 5 to 8 drugs each day. "A number of reports have shown that the risk of adverse drug events in elderly patients rises with comorbidity; increasing numbers of medications; inappropriate medications; the use of antipsychotics, anticoagulants, diuretics, and antiepileptics; and the use of multiple prescribers and pharmacies by patients and caregivers" (Cefalu, 2006). The use of a patient profile and pharmacology questionnaire should occur at each visit, including an identification of any alternative treatments or supplements that could interfere with the function of other drugs. Sharing this information through the use of electronic health records was identified as the program approach best suited to reduce polypharmacy and improve patient outcomes. Literature specific to the issue of polypharmacy in elderly patients with psychiatric disorders related to the connection amongst changing psychiatric medications, changing patient needs, and comorbid conditions that exist for elderly patients, all of which can increas the risk of polypharmacy. This specific project provided a foundation for understanding the overall problem and could subsequently be applied to scrutinize the process at a rural outpatient psychiatric clinic.

# **Interdisciplinary Teams**

Implementing a multidisciplinary approach to reducing polypharmacy required an assessment of current systems, the creation of recommendations from the multidisciplinary team for change, and the views of practitioners about their commitment to reducing the problem of polypharmacy through program implementation. This was completed within the team process as components of the DNP project. The DNP candidate acted as the leader of the multidisciplinary team. The project sought to demonstrate reduction in polypharmacy from current levels to no incidences after implementation of the multidisciplinary team-initiated EHR project planned by this DNP candidate.

The DNP candidate developed a multidisciplinary team from selected from different departments and set the goal of creating policies and practice guidelines to reduce polypharmacy. After selection, the multidisciplinary team explored studies on the use of EHRs in reducing medication polypharmacy and adverse events caused by medication errors (Croll, 2010; Jha et al., 2010). This information was then used in the development of policies and practice guidelines. The project team, led by the DNP candidate, developed policy and practice guidelines.

After these policies were developed, the information was shared with scholars in the field to validate the content of the policies and practice guidelines. This provided a foundation for assessing the mechanisms for change in alignment with their views of evidence-based approaches. The project team developed an implementation plan for these polices and methods for evaluating the outcomes of the policies (See Appendices C and D). The outcomes of the development process included recognition that the approach provided a cost-effective method of change that could improve patient outcomes and the quality of care.

This included the strategies for the application of the set of proposed policies in rural mental health facilities. Because no level of polypharmacy is acceptable and because of the severity of adverse reactions for the elderly population studied, the use of electronic health records as a change protocol should aim for reduction to zero events after implementation of the program planned in this project. The policies and practice guidelines and methods of evaluating their effectiveness were developed as a part of the multidisciplinary team approach.

1. The DNP candidate acted as the leader of a multidisciplinary team created to develop a quality improvement program based on EHR technology to reduce polypharmacy. The team included a range of different institutional stakeholders, with individuals responsible for prescribing medication for this population. As a result, the researcher was responsible for selecting and integrating members of the multidisciplinary team in the development of policies and protocols to reduce polypharmacy;

2. The DNP candidate led the multidisciplinary team in exploring studies on the use of EHRs to reduce medication polypharmacy and adverse events caused by medication errors (Croll, 2010; Jha et al., 2010).

3. The project team, led by the DNP candidate, developed policy and practice guidelines.

4. The DNP candidate validated the content of policies and practice guidelines by sharing the information with scholars in the field. This provided a foundation for assessing the mechanisms for change in alignment with their views of evidence-based approaches.

5. The project team, led by the DNP candidate, developed an implementation plan and an evaluation plan (See Appendices C and D)

6. This approach provided a cost-effective system for creating a change initiative because it engaged the work of the DNP candidate to lead the team and create the plan.

## **Discussion and Implications**

The outcomes of this project reflected the views of team members about the connection between communication modalities and the approaches to maintaining accurate records for geriatric patients, specifically with the aim of reducing polypharmacy. For geriatric patients who have multiple comorbid conditions, polypharmacy is becoming increasingly common when communication between practitioners is inadequate (Hoffman et al., 2011). Members of the multidisciplinary team maintained that even though their facility was relatively small, communications did not occur on a regular basis to support the accuracy of patient care plans in reflecting the prescribing practices for each patient. This corresponds with the findings of researchers including Slabaugh et al., (2010) who argued that polypharmacy for elderly patients is exacerbated by the fact that there are multiple states of health that may be treated by a range of practitioners, resulting in medication regimens that overlap. The primary and secondary products of this project demonstrate the progression towards this goal through the development of the team approach and the identification of potential policy and guideline changes.

## **Primary Products**

The primary products created through the team's involvement in the DNP project included a new set of policies related to the use of electronic medical records, which created the foundation for integrating EHRs into different aspects of patient care (Appendices A and B). In addition to establishing new policies, the primary products of the DNP project included the creation of practice guidelines used in the clinical setting (Appendices A and B).

### **Secondary Products**

The secondary products included an implementation plan (Appendix C) used to assess the levels of polypharmacy and the nature of adverse events prior to the integration at each level of the organization. It also included an evaluation plan (Appendix D) utilized to determine variations in the outcomes for patients before and after implementation of the policies and practice guidelines. Project team members worked collaboratively to create the policy and practice guideline changes and to assess levels of need for each department prior to implementation. Implementation practices were outlined through collaboration on departmental levels. Each team member demonstrated a commitment to the process of change and fostered commitment in others with the view of one day applying the change initiative to the workplace process.

### Summary

Research clearly indicates that polypharmacy is particularly problematic in geriatric patients and in psychiatric populations as a whole (Langan & Shajahan, 2010; Tiihonen et al.,

2012; Zink, Englisch, & Meyer-Lindberg, 2010). There is increasing evidence that effective communication and effective medication management go hand-in-hand, and this research project provided additional support for this assertion. Communication and management systems that are technology-based, including the use of electronic health records (EHRs), could provide a foundation for communications among varied practitioners in the rural mental health facility to help reduce the level of polypharmacy.

The aim of this project was to create a quality improvement program for reducing polypharmacy in elderly patients in a rural outpatient psychiatric clinic. The policy changes produced in this project were designed to ensure reductions in polypharmacy and support measures for improved quality. These perspectives were seen through narrative data on a departmental level that supports the continued development of this kind of change protocol. This information suggests the need for continued study of the impacts of EHRs in the clinical setting and continued research into the best approaches to reducing adverse events due to poor medication management.

### **Dissemination Project**

My DNP project was based on the identification of polypharmacy as a significant problem for health care practitioners and nursing staff in psychiatric hospitals. As the DNP project coordinator, I sought methods to reduce polypharmacy for this population and pursued research-based methods to improve patient outcomes. The specific focus of this project was to bring together a multidisciplinary team to create a set of policies and guidelines to be used for the implementation of electronic health records as a standard of care to reduce polypharmacy in a rural mental health facility. Polypharmacy in populations of adults age 65 or older is a significant issue, especially in populations receiving care in mental health facilities. This evidence-based research project assessed the problem of polypharmacy from a variety of perspectives, provided a definition for polypharmacy for this specific population, and proposed a method that was preliminarily implemented to create greater accountability in addressing the needs of an aging population through the use of electronic health records (EHRs). This project was developed to change the way in which healthcare professionals address the needs of their patients in rural health clinics, which includes assessing their medication needs and seeking information, through the use of improved technologies, that can prevent polypharmacy in this vulnerable population.

## Problem

This project is based on the belief that adequate management of patient medication regimens can be a difficult component of care, but only through doing so can practitioners ensure the safety of their patients. The problem of polypharmacy is a significant one that impacts elderly psychiatric populations more than any other single population (Slabaugh et al., 2010). For geriatric psychiatric patients who often have multiple comorbid psychiatric and physical conditions, polypharmacy can result from the use of multiple psychiatric drugs, multiple prescribers, and/or the use of drugs that result in adverse drug reactions because of the lack of continuity in communications regarding overlapping medication regimens (Hoffman et al., 2011).

### Purpose

The purpose of this DNP project was to develop a quality improvement program with the aim of reducing polypharmacy in elderly patients in a rural outpatient psychiatric clinic. This

quality improvement program focused on the creation of policies and guidelines by a multidisciplinary team to implement the use of EHRs in reducing polypharmacy.

### **Goals and Outcomes**

The overall approach to developing a multidisciplinary team method was to address the problem of polypharmacy based on the need for effective collaborative policies. This entailed the creation of a multidisciplinary team to develop a quality improvement program, as well as policies and guidelines based on EHR technology to reduce polypharmacy. The team included a range of different institutional stakeholders, including individuals responsible for prescribing medication for this population.

## Significance

The significance of the project related directly to the increase in the number of elderly patients seeking services, the increasing need for effective medication management, and the noted number of adverse events that occur as a result of medication mismanagement. There were approximately 40 million people living in the United States over the age of 65 in 2010, which comprises about 13 percent of the population (FIFARS, 2012). That number will jump to over 72 million in 2030, increasing to about 20 percent of the population (FIFARS, 2012).

# Literature and Evidence

Patients aged 65 and older often experience suboptimal pharmacotherapy, primarily because of changes in drug metabolism, target organ sensitivity, problematic drug interactions and even drug toxicity (Trivalle et al., 2010). Commonly, these changes result in longer periods of drug activity, which can have a greater or lesser drug effect, and an increased level of potential toxicity resulting from metabolic changes (Trivalle et al., 2010). Existing literature maintained the importance of the use of technology and the use of patient support mechanisms to reduce the chances of polypharmacy that results in adverse events (Langan, & Shajahan, 2010). Literature specific to the issue of polypharmacy in elderly patients with psychiatric disorders related to the connection amongst changing psychiatric medications, changing patient needs, and comorbid conditions that exist for elderly patients, all of which can increase the risk of polypharmacy. This specific project provided a foundation for understanding the overall problem and could subsequently be applied to scrutinize the process at a rural outpatient psychiatric clinic.

# The Team

Implementing a multidisciplinary approach to reducing polypharmacy required an assessment of current systems, the creation of recommendations for change by the multidisciplinary team, and the views of practitioners about their commitment to reducing the problem of polypharmacy through program implementation. This was completed within the team process as components of the DNP project. The project sought to demonstrate reduction in polypharmacy from current levels to no incidences after implementation of the multidisciplinary team-initiated EHR project planned by this DNP candidate.

## **Discussion and Implications**

The outcomes of this project reflected the views of team members about the connection between communication modalities and the approaches to maintaining accurate records for geriatric patients, specifically with the aim of reducing polypharmacy. For geriatric patients who have multiple comorbid conditions, polypharmacy is becoming increasingly common when communication between practitioners is inadequate (Hoffman et al., 2011).

### **Primary Products**

The primary products that were created through the project and team involvement in the DNP project included a new set of policies related to the use of electronic medical records to be used as the foundation for integrating EHRs into different aspects of patient care (Appendices A and B). The primary products of the DNP project included the creation of specific policies and practice guidelines used in the clinical setting (Appendix A and B).

## **Secondary Products**

The secondary products included an implementation plan (Appendix C) used to assess the levels of polypharmacy and the nature of adverse events prior to the integration at each level of the organization and an evaluation plan (Appendix D) utilized to determine variations in the outcomes for patients before and after implementation of the policies and practice guidelines. Project team members worked collaboratively to create the policy and practice guideline changes and to assess levels of need for each department prior to implementation. Implementation practices were outlined through collaboration on departmental levels. Each team member demonstrated a commitment to the process of change and fostered commitment in others with the view of one day applying the change initiative to the workplace process.

#### Summary

Research clearly indicates that polypharmacy is particularly problematic in geriatric patients and in psychiatric populations as a whole (Langan & Shajahan, 2010; Tiihonen et al., 2012). There is increasing evidence that effective communication and effective medication management go hand-in-hand, and this research project provided additional support for this assertion. Communication and management systems that are technology-based, including the use

of electronic health records (EHRs) could provide a foundation for communications between varied practitioners in the rural mental health facility and help to reduce the level of polypharmacy.

The aim of this DNP project was to create a quality improvement program for reducing polypharmacy in elderly patients in a rural outpatient psychiatric clinic. The policy changes produced in this project were designed to ensure reductions in polypharmacy and support measures for improved quality. These perspectives were seen through narrative data on a departmental level that supports the continued development of this kind of a change protocol. This information suggests the need for continued study of the impacts of EHRs in the clinical setting and continued research into the best approaches to reducing adverse events from poor medication management.

### References

American Agency on Aging. (2014). *Aging statistics*. Retrieved from http://www.aoa.gov/ Aging Statistics/

Ballentine, N. (2008). Polypharmacy in the elderly: maximizing benefit, minimizing harm. *Critical Care Nursing Quarterly*, *31*, 40–45.

Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. New York, NY: W. H. Freeman.

- Barry, P., Gallagher, P., & Ryan, C. (2008). Inappropriate prescribing in geriatric patients. *Current Psychiatry Report*, *10*, 37-43.
- Bass, B., & Riggio, R. (2006). *Transformational leadership*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Bilyeu, K., Gumm, C., Fitzgerald, J., Fox, S., & Selig, P. (2011). Reducing the use of potentially inappropriate medications in older adults. *American Journal of Nursing*, *111*(1), 47-52. doi: 10.1097/01.NAJ.0000393060.94063.15
- Cefalu, C. (2006). Drug therapy in elderly patients. *Consultant*, *46*(14). Retrieved from http://www.consultant360.com/content/drug-therapy-elderly-patients
- Center for Medicare Advocacy (2009). *Health information technology as a health care reform tool*. Retrieved from http://www.medicareadvocacy.org/InfoByTopic/Reform/ Reform\_09\_06.04.HIT.htm
- Chirn-Bin, C., Jen-Hau, C., Chiung-Jung, W., Hsu-Ko, K., I-Shu, L., Shwu-Chong, W., & Ding-Cheng, D. (2011). Potentially inappropriate medications in geriatric outpatients with polypharmacy: application of six sets of published explicit criteria. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 72(3), 482-489. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.2011.04010.x

Creswell J. (2009). Research design. London, England: Sage.

- Croll, P. (2010). Privacy, security and access with sensitive health information. *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics*, *151*, 167-175.
- De Wet, C. (2011). Screening electronic patient records to detect preventable harm: A trigger tool for primary care. *Quality in Primary Care*, *19*(2), 115-125.
- Fadare, J., Agboola, S., Opeke, O., & Alabi, R. (2013). Prescription pattern and prevalence of potentially inappropriate medications among elderly patients in a Nigerian rural tertiary hospital. *Therapeutics & Clinical Risk Management*, 9, 115-120. doi:10.2147/TCRM.S40120
- Federal Interagency Forum on Aging-Related Statistics (FIFARS). (2012). Older Americans 2012. Retrieved from http://www.agingstats.gov/agingstatsdotnet/Main\_Site/Data/2012\_ Documents/Docs/EntireChartbook.pdf
- Freund, J., Meiman, J., & Kraus, C. (2013). Using electronic medical record data to characterize the level of medication use by age-groups in a network of primary care clinics. *Primary Care and Community Health*, 4(4), 286-293.
- Fulton, M., & Allen, E. (2005). Polypharmacy in the elderly: A literature review. Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners, 17(4), 123-132.
- Greenwalt, K. (2009). How are all those medications affecting your older patient?: Learn about the risks of polypharmacy and how you can minimize them. *Nursing*, *39*(5), 39.
- Haider, S., Johnell, K., Weitoft, G., Thorslund, M., & Fastborn, J. (2009). The influence of educational level on polypharmacy and inappropriate drug use: A register-based study of
more than 600,000 older people. *Journal of American Geriatrics Society*, *57*(1), 62-69. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2008.02040.x

- Hamza, S., Abdelwadoud, M., Kandil, I., & Mortagy, A. (2012). Polypharmacy and inappropriate medication use among elderly persons in an Egyptian rural area. *Middle East Journal of Age & Ageing*, 9(1), 13-19.
- Harrington, L. (2011). Safety issues related to the electronic medical record: Synthesis of the literature from the last decade, 2000-2009. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 56(1), 31-43.
- Hoffman, D., Schiller, M., Greenblatt, J., & Iosifescu, D. (2011). Polypharmacy or medication washout: An old tool revisited. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, *7*, 639–648.
- Hogan, D., & Kwan, M. (2006). Patient sheet: Tips for avoiding problems with polypharmacy. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 175(8). doi:10.1503/cmaj.060888.
- Hutchison, E. D. (2008). *Dimensions of human behavior: The changing life course* (3rd ed.).Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Jha, A., DesRoches, C., Kralovec, P. ,& Joshi, M. (2010). A progress report on electronic health records in U.S. hospitals. *Health Affairs*, 29(10), 1951-1957.
- Jyrkk, J., Enlund, H., Korhonen, M. J.,Sulkava, R., & Hartikainen, S. (2009). Polypharmacy status as an indicator of mortality in an elderly population. *Drugs & Aging*, 26(12), 1039-48. http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.co.wake.nc.us/10.2165/11319530-000000000000000
- Langan, J., & Shajahan, P. (2010). Antipsychotic polypharmacy: Review of mechanisms, mortality and management. *Psychiatrist*, *34*, 58–62.

- Meyer, R. M., & O'Brien-Pallas, L. L. (2010). Nursing services delivery theory: An open system approach. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *66*(12), 2828-2838.
- Mizokami, F., Koide, Y., Noro, T., & Furata, K. (2012). Polypharmacy with common diseases in hospitalized elderly patients. *American Journal of Geriatric Pharmacotherapy*, *10*(2), 123-128.
- Munger, M. (2010). Polypharmacy and combination therapy in the management of hypertension in elderly patients with co-morbid diabetes mellitus. *Drugs and Aging*, *27*(11), 871-883.
- Northouse, P. (2012). Leadership: Theory and practice, (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Planton, J., & Edlund, B. (2010). Strategies for reducing polypharmacy in older adults. *Journal* of Gerontological Nursing, 36(1), 8–12.
- Porter, R., & Kaplan, J. (Eds.). (2012). *Merck manuals for healthcare professionals*. Retrieved from www.merckmanual.com/professional/clinical\_pharmacology.html
- Pretorius, R., Gataric, G., Swedlund, S., & Miller, J. (2013). Reducing the risk of adverse drug events in older adults. *American Family Physician*, 87, 331-336.
- Rambhade, S., Chakarborty, A., Shivastava, A., Patil, U., & Rambhade, A. (2012). A survey of polypharmacy and use of inappropriate medications. *Toxicology International*, *19*(1), 68-73.
- Remler, D., & Van Ryzin, G. (2011) Research methods in practice: Strategies for description and causation. Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Salih, S., Yousuf, M., Durihim, H., Almodaimegh, H., & Tamim, H. (2013). Prevalence and associated factors of polypharmacy among adult Saudi medical outpatients at a tertiary

care center. Journal of Family & Community Medicine, 20(3), 162-167.

doi:10.4103/2230-8229.121987

- Sato, I., & Akazawa, M. (2013). Polypharmacy and adverse drug reactions in Japanese elderly taking antihypertensives: a retrospective database study. *Drug, Healthcare & Patient Safety*, 5, 143-150. doi:10.2147/DHPS.S45347
- Savin-Baden, M., and Major, C. (2013) *Qualitative Research: The Essential Guide to Theory and Practice*. London: Routledge.
- Shah, R., Gajjar, B., & Desai, S. (2012). Drug utilization pattern among geriatric patients assessed with the anatomical therapeutic chemical classification / defined daily dose system in a rural tertiary care teaching hospital. *International Journal of Nutrition Pharmacology, Neurological Diseases*, 2(3), 258-265.
- Simonson, W., & Feinberg, J. (2005). Medication-related problems in the elderly: defining the issues and identifying solutions. *Drugs and Aging*, 22(7), 559–569.
- Slabaugh, S., Maio, V., Templin, M., & Abouzaid, S. (2010). Prevalence and risk of polypharmacy among the elderly in an outpatient setting: a retrospective cohort study in the Emilia-Romagna region, Italy. *Drugs and Aging*, 27(12), 1019-1028. doi: 10.2165/11584990
- Spinewine, K., Schmader, K., Barber, N., Hughes, C., Lapane, K., Swine, C., & Hanlon, J. (2007). Appropriate prescribing in elderly people: how well can it be measured and optimized? *Lancet*, 370(9852), 173–184.
- Stawicki, S., & Gerlach, A. (2009). Polypharmacy and medication errors: Stop, listen, look and analyze. OPUS 12 Scientist, 3(1), 6-10.

- Steinman, M., Landefeld, S., Rosenthal, G., Berthenthal, D., Sen, S., Kaboli, P. (2006).
  Polypharmacy and prescribing quality in older people. *Journal of the American Geriatric Society*, 54, 1516–1523.
- Suokas, J, Suvisaari, J., Haukka, J., Korthonen, P., & Tiihonen, J. (2013). Description of longterm polypharmacy among schizophrenia outpatients. *Social Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology*. 48(4), 631-638. doi:10.1007/s00127-012-0586-6
- Tiihonen, J., Suokas, J., Suvisaari, J., Haukka, J., & Korhonen, P. (2012). Polypharmacy with antipsychotics, antidepressants, or benzodiazepines and mortality in schizophrenia. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 69(5), 476-483.
- Trivalle, C., Cartier, T., Verny, C., Mathieu, A., Davriche, P., Agostini, H., Becquemonth, L.,
  Demolis, P. (2010). Identifying and preventing adverse drug events in elderly
  hospitalized patients: A randomized trial of a program to reduce adverse drug effects. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging*, 14(1), 57-61.
- Viktil, K., Blix, H., Moger, T., Reikvam, A. (2007). Polypharmacy as commonly defined is an indicator of limited value in the assessment of drug-related problems. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 63(2), 187-195.
- Woodruff, K. (2010). Preventing polypharmacy in older adults. *American Nursing Today*, 5(10). Retrieved from http://www.medscape.com/viewarticle/732131\_6
- Zink, M., Englisch, S., & Meyer-Lindberg, A. (2010). Polypharmacy in schizophrenia. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 23(2), 103–111.

#### Appendix A: Policy Final Product

Purpose: Following are the central components of the policy's purpose:

- To establish a set of guidelines for the use of electronic health records (EHRs) in the rural health care facility;
- To create the parameters by which EHRs will be used to ensure the accuracy of patient prescribing, thus reducing medication errors;
- To meet medical records compliance requirements set forth by the Federal and State Laws;
- To ensure the confidentiality of every patient.

**Scope:** This policy applies to all employees and management of the rural mental health facility across all departments, including any practitioners contracted to work on behalf of the facility.

**Responsibility:** Physicians, nursing staff, mental health practitioners, clinicians, and medical records/billing staff at the rural mental health facility.

**Policy:** The rural mental health facility will ensure the maintenance and protection of health records in alignment with legal requirements. After implementation, each patient will participate in an in-take interview that will include a review and documentation in EHR of all medications and OTC products utilized by the patient, in addition to health status updates. EHRs will be used to ensure the adequate sharing of technology-based patient information to support appropriate care; the use of the EHR by practitioners with licensure to prescribe medications, including

access to and review of patient EHR prior to prescribing any medication; the entering of prescribed medications, and the review of any flags that occur prior to distributing medications to a patient; the documentation of any subsequent medication conflicts; practitioner-to-practitioner communications; and changes made to prescribed medications or medication management plans in the EHR.

**Confidentiality:** All personnel who have access to patient protected health records must sign a Confidentiality Agreement that assures the privacy of password and patient information, and the protection of access points. Access to EHRs will be protected in accordance with HIPAA regulations in regards to the retrieval, availability, accessibility and confidentiality of personal patient information.

**Patient Referral and Tracking:** EHRs will also be utilized to support increased communication during patient referral or transfer to other mental health facilities or practitioners, and this includes managing EHR operations in real-time to maintain the immediacy and accuracy of patient information as they move between practitioners.

### Reference

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) Privacy & Security Rule, 45 CFR 160-164.524

### Appendix B: Practice Guidelines

The practice guidelines for the rural health care facility are based on two specific aims: 1. To create a systems-oriented approach to maintaining the safety of all patients, and 2. To create a safe environment within which all patients can work towards their personal goals by recognizing the errors, their causes, and a strategic approach for change. Following are the guiding points for practice:

- Adopt the use of EHRs as a part of a systems approach to reducing medication errors in the rural mental health facility;
- 2. Utilize EHRs as a means of systematically documenting patients at each stage of their treatment, including their intake, assessments, medication management, outtake, and referral or transfer.
- 3. Maintain the confidentiality of each practitioner accessing patient care.
- 4. Utilize EHRs to ensure that reporting mechanisms are updated in real-time and can support communication across departments.
- 5. Provide physicians, clinics, nursing professionals, and others involved in medication administration with the skill they need to effectively assess patient condition, identify red flags, and use technology as a basis for communication with other practitioners providing care.
- 6. Support the use of EHRs in every department in the organization.
- Create training for practitioner groups in order to improve the quality of medication management.

Guidelines	Approach

Adopting EHRs to Reduce Mediation	Nursing staff will document EHRs at intake and the
Janagement	nformation will be used by physicians, nurse
	practitioners and other professionals with
	rescribing licensure to make medication
	nanagement decisions.
Systematic Documentation at Each Patient	Any mental health professionals working directly
Stage	vith patients will access and update EHRs
	vhenever treatment is provided. Documentation will
	nclude: updating medication information, relating
	DTC medication use, relating significant alterations
	n health that can impact decision-making.
Confidentiality	The Privacy Rule provides that an individual has a
	ight to adequate notice of how a covered entity may
	se and disclose protected health information about
	he individual, as well as his or her rights and the
	overed entity's obligations with respect to that
	nformation (HIPAA, 2003). Because a variety of
	ccess points exist for the EHR technology, the
	Privacy Rule will be applied to protection of patient
	nformation at remote locations. Passwords will be
	dentified through a generated system and clinicians

	· 11 1 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	vill have to utilize these to log into specific
	nformation.
Real-Time Communication	All health professionals will document their
	nteractions with patients and any alteration of
	atient information while working directly with the
	atient. The person-to-person sharing of information
	n real time is based on the importance of this
	nformation that is needed for change.
Prescribing Professional Process	The following process will be followed:
	Review of EHR information;
	nput of new patient information;
	Jpdate of medication management plan;
	dentification of new prescription;
	nput of new prescription;
	Evaluation of any red flags;
	Communication with other prescribing
	professionals, when needed;
	Subsequent update of any new or changing
	prescribing plan.
Training	Two mandatory training programs will be conducted
	prior to use of the new system. Key components of
	he training program will include the

ationale/purpose of the approach, the systematic
pproach to be utilized, methods for evaluating the
utcomes, assessments and communications utilized
etween practitioners, and the importance of real-
ime action and communication.

# Appendix C: Implementation Plan

The implementation plan was developed with the goal of assessing the levels of polypharmacy and the nature of adverse events prior to the integration at each level of the organization.

	EHR Access Points	Prescribing Systems	Levels of Polypharmacy	Reporting Systems
Drganizational	dentify key access	Apply overarching	dentify the nature of the	ntegrate technology-based
	oints and determine	organizational	roblem for the	perations to improve
	which departments will	lirectives to determine	organization as a whole	eporting systems, including
	e utilizing EHR	he application of EHR	hrough reporting systems	Aedicare, Medicaid and
	ystems.	ystems for	nd the identification of	ealth insurance reporting
		practitioners	olypharmacy in patient	nechanisms.
		esponsible for patient	opulations.	
		rescribing.		
Departmental	Define those	dentify those involved	Assess incidences of	Provide training and
	esponsible for access	n prescribing systems	olypharmacy and issues	ystematic support for the

oint protection.	t each organizational	elated to poor	ontinued application of
	ier.	erformance levels and	echnology.
		ontinually increasing	
		olypharmacy rates.	

## Appendix D: Evaluation Plan

The evaluation plan was utilized to determine variations in outcomes through the process of implementing policies and practice guidelines. Following is the organizational rubric that could be used to relate the progress of the program over time.

	Planning	nitial Stage	strategic	Policy	Successful
			mplementation	Assessment	Dutcomes
Communications					
olypharmacy					
dverse Events					

	EHR Access Points	Prescribing Systems	evels of Polypharmacy	Reporting Systems
Drganizational	Alcohol and Drug Use	tart with prescribing	The narrative reflections of	Only the billing
	Child and Adolescent	nechanisms for	nembers of the	lepartment currently
	Services	lepartments with direct	nultidisciplinary team and	tilized technology-based
	Geriatric Psychiatry	nvolvement in geriatric	ssessments of their	eporting for their
	Vomen's Mental Health	are, including Alcohol	harting system suggest that	perations, based on the
	Clinical Services	nd Drug Use, Depression	olypharmacy occurs in	eed for mechanized
		nd Anxiety Specialists,	lmost 25 percent of cases	eporting systems for
		Geriatric Psychiatry,	een in the mental health	Medicaid and Medicare.
		Vomen's Mental Health,	acility. Adverse events	
		nd Clinical Services	elated to polypharmacy	
		lepartments.	occur in only about 5	
			ercent of cases, but	
			nembers of the team	
			naintained that	

Appendix E: Potential Organizational Implementation Outcomes

	olypharmacy significantly	
	educes the effectiveness of	
	are.	

	EHR Access Points	Prescribing Systems	Levels of Polypharmacy	Reporting Systems
Departmental: Ex.	Physicians	Physicians, psychiatrists,	ligher overall rates of	After implementation, the
Geriatric	Psychiatrists	nd nurse practitioners all	olypharmacy were noted in this	Geriatric Psychology
sychology	Jurse Practitioners	ave prescribing	opulation. About 30 percent of	lepartment will relate
	Jurses	esponsibilities that can be	atients were noted as having	oncerns about the
	Psychologists	mpacted by the	nultiple prescribers for the same	eporting mechanisms and
	Social Workers	rganizational change	nedication. Nurses at in-take will	ther issues that might
		nitiative. Nurses,	e asked to interview patients	rise, e.g. the need for a
		sychologists and social	egarding prescribed drug use,	hift in approaches to
		vorkers may provide	nedication management, OTC	raining or maintaining a
		nformation within the	lrug use, and recreational drug use	killed population of
		EHR system that can	t the time of in-take. Nurses and	professionals in the rural
		mpact decision-making	urse practitioners will be	nental health facility.
		egarding prescribing,	esponsible for identifying or	
		ncluding the presence of	oting any prescription	

Appendix F: Potential Departmental Implementation Outcomes

pre	escriptions from other	liscrepancies or significant	
pra	actitioners, the	ootential interactions, though it	
de	entification of OTC	nay be difficult to follow through	
Iri	ug use, or the presence	vith this kind of approach without	
þf	comorbid substance use	he use of technology and without	
lis	sorders.	pecific accurate information	
		bout existing prescriptions,	
		nedication management strategies,	
		nd communications between	
		prescribers in and out of the	
		acility.	

## Appendix G: Evaluation Plan Results

The evaluation plan was utilized to determine variations in the outcomes through sharing with others in the field the policies and practice guidelines from Appendices A-B. This information is provided in narrative form with some quotes from multidisciplinary team members to support specific assertions.

	lanning	trategic	Policy Assessment	Successful
		mplementation		Dutcomes
Communications	Adequate	The	Policy changes	Communications
	ommunications	nultidisciplinary	esulted in a	vere improved
	bout planning	eam were	comparison of old	cross departments
	vere accomplished	uccessful in	nd new approaches	hrough the
	hrough the	reating a clear	nd this improved	nultidisciplinary
	nultidisciplinary	view of the	ommunication	eam approach, as
	eam. ("Planning	mplementation	between	oted through
	vent very well and	process that would	practitioners.	eflections of the
	eople were very	e applied. ("The	"Many of us didn't	eam.
	ooperative.")	reation of clear	ealize how little we	
		lirectives" was	communicated until	
		oted.).	ve [viewed the]	
			olicy.")	
olypharmacy	Planning	All members of the	The needed changes	Protocols for the
	ncorporated direct	nultidisciplinary	n policy were	ssessment of
	ssessments of	eam were on board	learly aligned with	olypharmacy were

	lanartmantal and	with the process of	ha directive to	dontified and
	repartmental and	vith the process of	ne directive to	dentified and,
	organizational	trategic	educe	vhen implemented,
	views of the	mplementation to	olypharmacy on	ould be compared
	oroblem.	educe	lepartmental and	o past rates to
		olypharmacy. The	rganizational	letermine areas of
		oals were	evels.	ontinued
		leveloped and		mprovement.
		tilized as a part of		
		he directive for		
		trategic change.		
Adverse Events	The planning	Clearer	Policies identified	The attainment of
	process reflected	dentification of	y the	ero adverse events
	he fact that	dverse events	nultidisciplinary	vas the goal to be
	dverse events	vould include an	eam also identified	chieved once the
	vere not always	valuation of past	liscrepancies in	lan was
	dentified as	vents as a part of	views of adverse	mplemented, as
	lirectly related to	he strategic process	vents.	vas clearly
	olypharmacy.	n departments		outlined in the
		vhere the strategy		nethods for
		vould be applied.		mplementation
				nd evaluation.